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DESCRIBETHE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The first synagogue on the present site was built ca. 1794, but was destroyed in the 
Charleston fire of 1838. The present Greek Revival structure was completed in 1841. 
It was designed by Cyrus L. Warner, a New York architect, and built by David Lopez, a 
Charleston contractor. Specifications for the building are outlined in a contract 
between the trustees of the congregation and Lopez. (It is displayed in Beth Elohim's 
museum room.)

Exterior: Greek Revival in design, the structure is approximately 46' high, 56'wide, and 
119' long. Foundations are brick, with granite ashlar facing. Walls are brick, covered 
with stucco painted white and scored to resemble stone. Antae at the corners have 
capitals with anthemion, palmette and egg and dart moldings. An imposing portico has 
six fluted Doric columns of stucco over brick. The architrave is of sandstone; the 
cornice and pediment of stuccoed brick. The entablature is in the Doric order and 
encircles the building. Five granite steps ascend to the portico, the floor of which 
is alternating blue-grey and white marble squares. The portico ceiling is coffered. 
The entrance is nearly 18V high and has a stucco architrave and double sliding doors. 
The windows (of which there are two on the front and rear facades and five on each 
side facade) have stucco architraves and sandstone sills. The stained glass windows 
appear to date from the 1880s-1890s. The gable roof is covered with tin, according 
to the original specifications.

Interior: A vestibule extends across the front of the structure. At each end are stair­ 
ways which ascend to the gallery level. Three doorways lead from the vestibule to the 
auditorium. Here, located in the eastern end, is a raised platform, which contains the 
ark (a large oval case of mahogany which contains the scrolls of the Torah). On the 
platform, four Corinthian columns support an entablature which covers the ark. A less 
elevated space in front of the platform is defined by a mahogany balustrade and carved 
rai 1.

The ceiling of the auditorium features a suspended plaster saucer dome with pendentives, 
and paneled segmental spandrel arches on the east and west walls. The center of the 
dome is decorated with acanthus leaves and palmettes and is encircled by a ring of 
rosettes. Panels with egg and dart moldings radiate from the centerpiece. A gallery, 
at the west end of the auditorium (opposite the ark) is supported by four wooden Ionic 
columns and two engaged columns at the ends. In the center of the gallery's west wall 
is the organ which has a 19th Century paneled case. Originally, the gallery extended 
along the side facades, but these portions have been removed. The walls are plaster 
and feature wainscoting. The pews date from ca. 1879 when the interior was renovated.

The robing room is located at the rear of the structure, behind the ark. The museum 
and archives of the synagogue is also housed in this area.

Surroundings: Beth Elohim is located on a landscaped lot with an early wrought iron 
fence extending along its Hasell Street boundary. Included within the nominated property 
is an 18th Century Charleston single house (86 Hasell Street) which is used as the 
rabbi's office. This building is thought to have been built ca. 1797. It is of 
Charleston "grey" brick and has a cornice of dentils and a hip roof. The large brick 
chimneys feature a white stuccoed frieze commonly called the "Charleston band." The 
interior retains the original pegged staircase, dentiled mantels, six paneled doors, and 
other woodwork typical of the Federal period in Charleston. Alterations—primarily 
on the ground floor—have been made to the structure/ 566 continuation sheet)
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Beth Elohim is one of the oldest Jewish congregations in the United States, having been 
founded ca. 1749. It was incorporated by the General Assembly of the State of South 
Carolina in 1791. Worship was held in various locations before a structure was built 
on the present site ca. 1794. This edifice was destroyed by the Charleston fire of 1838. 
The present house of worship—considered an excellent example of Greek Revival design-­ 
was completed in 1841.

Throughout its history Beth Elohim has been an influential and outstanding congregation. 
Barnett A. Elzas, rabbi of Beth Elohim ca. 1900, wrote, "at the beginning of the 
nineteenth century the Jewish community of Charleston was the largest, the most 
cultured, and the wealthiest Jewish community in America...."1 In 1790 the congregation 
wrote to George Washington, congratulating him on his election as President. A copy 
of his reply is in the synagogue's museum. In 1824 a portion of the congregation 
broke away from the parent synagogue and established the first Reform Jewish group in 
the United States. . The synagogue has also been Involved in meeting the social and 
humanitarian needs of Charleston; the Hebrew Benevolent Society, founded by members of 
Beth Elohim, dates from the synagogue's early history.

Architecture: Beth Elohim is considered "one of the most scholarlv and well proportioned 
examples of the Greek Revival period in the City [of Charleston]."2 Designed by Cyrus L. 
Warner, a New York architect, and built by David Lopez, a Charleston builder, it is 
included in Group 1, the highest category in the inventory of "Historic Architecture 
of the Peninsula City Charleston, S.C.".Inl963 measured drawings were done for the 
Historic American Buildings Survey.

Also included within the nominated property is a late 18th Century Charleston "Single 
House." Used as the rabbi's office, it is included in Group 3 (significant buildings) 
in the Charleston inventory.

Barnett A. Elzas, The Jews of South Carolina (1905; rpt. Spartanburg, South 
Carolina: The Reprint Company, 1972), p. 147.•

2Albert Simons and W. H. Johnson Thomas, An Architectural Guide to Charleston, 
South Carolina (Charleston: Historic Charleston Foundation, n.d.)> n.p.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

The combined property of Beth Elohim Synagogue and its office building 
at 86 Hasell Street consists of two adjacent lots. The property is 
bounded on the south by Hasell Street; on the west by Kerrison's 
Department Store, in a 19th Century commercial building; on the 
north by a parking lot belonging to Kerrison's and separated from it 
by a high fence; and on the east by the King Charles Inn, a contemporary, 
three story hn'rk st.rurt.uirp._________________________________ 
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Also included within the synagogue's property is a 20th Century, two-story masonry 
building used as a fellowship hall. Although included within the nominated acreage, 
this building is not of architectural or historical significance.
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